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Author’s Note



CHESTER ARTHUR, OUR nation’s 21st president, frequently lands on lists of the country’s most obscure chief executives. Few Americans know anything about him, and even history buffs mostly recall him for his distinctive facial hair. People who flock to Arthur’s former home in Manhattan, a brownstone that still stands, typically come to shop at a store that sells Indian and Middle Eastern spices and foods, not to see the only site in New York City where a president took the oath of office. Arthur’s statue in Madison Square Park, erected by his friends in 1899, is ignored. Arthur’s fascinating and surprising story had a lasting impact on the country—so why have we forgotten it?


The first reason is that Arthur rose to power and served in the White House during an era that is a bit foggy in the minds of most Americans. We frequently dissect and rehash the events of the Civil War (and rightly so), but we often ignore the crucial decades immediately following the war. We shouldn’t. The social, political, and economic changes that shook America during the 1870s and 1880s were the birth pangs of the society we have today. Arthur became president 136 years ago, but the era Mark Twain dubbed the “Gilded Age” doesn’t feel distant at a time when political corruption, economic inequality, and corporate malfeasance are once again shaking people’s faith in the American experiment.


The second reason is that Arthur had a deep distrust of the press and paid little attention to cultivating his public image, either for his contemporaries or for posterity. Newspapers treated him harshly before he assumed the presidency, and he remained wary of reporters even after attitudes shifted in his favor.


But the main reason Arthur’s story is unknown is that he left little behind, creating a challenge for historians. Shortly before he died, he ordered most of his letters, journals, and private papers to be destroyed, for reasons that will be revealed in the pages ahead. For many years, Arthur was represented in the Library of Congress by a single document, a letter he had written during the Civil War and that the library purchased in 1902. Painstaking work by chief librarians over many years gradually added to the holdings, but the collection is meager compared to what is available for most presidents.


In writing this book, I have relied on the letters and papers that do survive, together with the memories—published and unpublished—of the men and women who knew Arthur and the wonderfully vivid descriptions that filled the newspapers of the time. Anything between quotation marks comes from a letter, memoir, or other written document, and when I ascribe feelings to Arthur I do so based on his own statements or those of the people around him.


Despite the relative scarcity of writings by Arthur himself, I hope I have done justice to his story. It is the tale of a good man who veered off the right path, but rediscovered his better self with the help of an ordinary young woman who believed in him.
















Garfield, Arthur, Harrison, and Hayes… were the lost Americans: their gravely vacant and bewhiskered faces mixed, melted, swam together in the sea-depths of a past intangible, immeasurable, and unknowable.
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THOMAS WOLFE, “The Four Lost Men”

















Prologue



THE ST. JOHN sliced through the last wisps of haze and steamed south toward the Canal Street pier, where a messenger stood with a telegram clutched in his damp fingers. It was the morning of July 2, 1881, a Saturday, and the ship was running late. In the fog the pilot had steered her cautiously, straining his eyes and ears to avoid a collision with another steamer. Now he was trying to make up for lost time. Picking up speed, the St. John churned past the mammoth ice-harvesting warehouses, and then the sheer cliffs of the Palisades, where an advertisement for Drake’s Plantation Bitters was painted on the rock face in letters 20 feet high.


Finally, the island came into view. On the shore, the great trans-Atlantic steamships, their smokestacks blackened with soot, slumbered under towering wooden sheds. Ferries crisscrossed the Hudson, carrying passengers to and from the railroad depots that connected the great metropolis to points south and west. The bells of the ferries clanged fiercely, challenging the St. John to stay out of their way.


The engine thrumming in the belly of the 418-foot St. John had been salvaged from the steamer New World, which had been converted into a hospital for Union soldiers during the Civil War. Propelled by a pair of paddle wheels, one on each side, the St. John was the largest inland steamship in the world when she was built in 1864. She had since relinquished that title, but she still belonged among the floating palaces that operated the overnight service between Albany and New York City. She had gracefully curved deck lines, and her grand staircase was carved of St. Domingo mahogany, inlaid with white holly. Passengers could walk out of their lushly decorated staterooms onto a gallery overlooking the two-story saloon, which extended from stem to stern. A line of Corinthian columns ran down the saloon’s center, concealing masts that extended through the St. John’s superstructure to its wooden hull. The steamer catered to passengers’ every whim, from tables piled high with all of the delicacies of the season to the company of young women who took up residence on board and never wanted for customers.


On this steamy morning, the St. John carried two New York machine politicians accustomed to such opulence.


The boss of New York’s vaunted Republican machine stood six foot three, with broad shoulders and reddish-blond hair. He wore a manicured beard, and a curl he combed onto the middle of his broad forehead. His polka-dot tie was fastened with a gold pin, and he had tucked a checked handkerchief into the upper pocket of his cutaway coat. He wore English gaiters and pointy shoes, freshly polished, and held a sun umbrella.


His loyal lieutenant was an inch shorter, and a thousand late nights of eating and drinking had swelled him to a hearty 225 pounds. His face was florid and puffy, framed by mutton-chop sideburns trimmed to perfection. Unlike most politicians, who tended to wear dreary long-tailed frock coats and slouch hats, he wore a derby over his wavy hair, and a stylish sack coat. Like the boss, he was fastidious about his clothes—sometimes he had his Prince Albert coats, light trousers, and high hats imported from London, and he bought dozens of vests and pairs of trousers every year. The son of a rigid abolitionist preacher, he had left the discipline and deprivation of his Vermont youth far behind. Now he had a five-story brownstone on Lexington Avenue, a taste for expensive Havana cigars, and, his friends noted, extraordinary powers of digestion.


The two New Yorkers were protagonists in a national debate. Leaders of the “Stalwart” faction of the Republican Party, they were vociferous supporters of the spoils system, under which victorious candidates rewarded their cronies—and perpetuated their power—by handing out government jobs. Once in office, “spoilsmen” like the men on the St. John collected “voluntary” campaign donations from government employees, who knew they would be fired if they declined to contribute.


To Republican reformers, the spoils system was a mortal threat to American democracy. Driven by an almost religious fervor, they had become a powerful political force. At large gatherings held in all the nation’s major cities, they sang songs praising reform and condemning the spoils system as an unadulterated evil. Without reform of the civil service, they argued, it would be impossible to curb the trusts that were beginning to dominate the nation’s economy, since there would be nothing to prevent them from buying influential posts for their allies. “At present there is no organization save that of corruption; no system save that of chaos; no test of integrity save that of partisanship; no test of qualification save that of intrigue,” one leading reformer proclaimed. “We have to deal with a widespread evil, which defrauds the country in the collection of taxes on a scale so gigantic that the commissioners of revenue, collectors, assessors, and Treasury officers—at least those of them who are honest—bow their heads in shame and despair.”






[image: ]








Near the Canal Street pier were barrels and boxes of kitchen offal on the sidewalks and heaps of manure in the streets, all mellowing in the midsummer heat. The gutters were clogged with straw, eggshells, orange peels, potato skins, and cigar stumps. The overall effect, even when combined with the savory smells of cooking that emanated from some of the tenements, was nauseating. Wagons and trucks clustered around the wharf as sweltering stevedores loaded and unloaded the vessels docked there. At about 10:30, the St. John finally came within hailing distance. Standing on the shore, Baggage Master Turner cupped his hands around his mouth and bellowed to Steward Burdett on the deck of the St. John. Burdett froze for a moment, stunned. Then he rushed into the saloon to deliver the news to the two machine politicians lounging inside.


At first, they didn’t believe him. “It can’t be true,” sputtered the lieutenant. “This must be some stock speculation.” Then the St. John kissed the pier, and the messenger came on board with his telegram. He handed over his dispatch and stood by silently. As the words sunk in, the lieutenant blanched and collapsed into a chair. The boss took the telegram from his protégé and read the news for himself: President James A. Garfield had been shot and seriously wounded at a railroad station in downtown Washington. If he died, the corrupt politicians on board the St. John would become the most powerful men in the United States.













CHAPTER ONE



Elder Arthur


THE MOB BAYED just outside the church doors, bellowing for the blood of the abolitionists huddled inside, but Elder Arthur wasn’t frightened. The dark-haired minister, known for his ringing sermons and his crippled leg, had an iron belief in his own rectitude. That belief brooked no doubt, and an ungodly rabble could not shake it. Utica’s grocers and taverns had started selling liquor when the first rays of autumn sunlight were still creeping over the foothills of the Adirondacks, and they had extended credit freely. “Open the way! Break down the doors! Damn the fanatics!” cried the members of the mob, with rage reinforced by their early-morning purchases.


The steeple of the Second Presbyterian Church was painted white, the shutters were green, and the cupola was covered with tin. It was a cheerful-looking building, bright and sparkling. But the mob’s ugly threats slithered through the walls and under the church doors, which remained, for the moment, shut tight. The date was October 21, 1835, and nearly three decades before the Civil War tore the Union apart, most Utica residents were no more interested in abolishing slavery than the residents of Charleston or Richmond.


Set in New York’s Mohawk River Valley, Utica was a prosperous city with nearly nine thousand residents and more than a hundred banks, inns, stables, dry goods stores, and taverns. It had its share of abolitionists—citizens of Oneida County sent a steady flow of money to antislavery groups. But the dominant sentiment, expressed in a motion at a Republican gathering days before, was clear: the abolitionists were “wicked or deluded men, who, whatever may be their pretensions, are riveting the fetters of the bondman, and enkindling the flames of civil strife.”


The leader of the anti-abolitionist mob banging on the church doors was none other than Congressman Samuel Beardsley, a former state senator and county judge serving his third term in Washington. “The disgrace of having an abolition convention held in the city would be deeper than that of 20 mobs, and it would be better to have Utica razed to its foundations, or to have it destroyed like Sodom and Gomorrah, than to have the convention meet here,” Beardsley had roared at a meeting of concerned citizens several days before. A fierce-looking man with a furrowed brow and wings of white hair on either side of his rectangular head, the 45-year-old Beardsley had served as a lieutenant in the War of 1812. As usual, his views prevailed.


By 9 o’clock on Wednesday morning, Beardsley and his followers were mobilizing at the Oneida County Courthouse. An hour later, six hundred abolitionists gathered inside the Second Presbyterian Church, just two blocks away on Bleecker Street. The shutters softened the sunlight that streamed in through the church’s windows, brightening the white walls and ceiling, but they could not muffle the sounds of the mob. New York had already banned slavery, in 1827, but the abolitionists inside the church wanted to form a New York State Anti-Slavery Society to advocate for freedom nationwide. They began with a short prayer. Then the man who had called the meeting, 45-year-old Alvan Stewart, a prominent local attorney, rose to speak. “You, for this moment, are the representatives of American liberty,” he began. The menacing shouts from the street grew louder, but the handsome lawyer with the high forehead and the aquiline nose seemed to draw strength from them. “If you are driven from this sacred temple dedicated to God, by an infuriated mob, then my brethren, wherever you go, liberty will go, where you abide, liberty will abide, when you are speechless, liberty is dead!” Elder Arthur and the other abolitionists nodded their heads in assent. Then the mob burst through the church doors.
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William Arthur was born in 1796 in Antrim, Ireland, to a respectable family that could provide him with an education, but little more. From an early age William walked with a pronounced limp, the result of a “fever sore” on his knee that had become infected. A talented and determined student, he mastered Latin and Greek and earned a college degree in Belfast, but he knew his family’s lack of money and connections would limit his prospects in Ireland. In 1819 he sailed for Canada, bent on pursuing a legal career in the New World. He lived for a time in Stanstead, Quebec, then moved to nearby Dunham to work as a teacher while he studied the law. There he met Malvina Stone, a 19-year-old girl from Berkshire, Vermont, a short distance across the border. Malvina was from old New England stock—her grandfather Uriah Stone had served as a corporal in the Continental Army during the American Revolution. In 1821 William and Malvina were married, and three years later the young couple moved to Burlington, Vermont, where William thought he could make more money as a teacher while he studied law in the office of a prominent attorney.


In Burlington, the life of the aspiring lawyer abruptly changed course. New England was in the throes of the Second Great Awakening, a religious reaction to the rationalism and deism that had challenged Calvinist piety throughout the eighteenth century. In the 1770s and 1780s, the conflict with Great Britain focused Americans’ attention on political upheaval, rather than on religious salvation, and membership in New England churches plummeted. In the 1790s, New England pastors feared the French Revolution would spread godlessness to America’s shores, and some of them embarked on a campaign of vigorous preaching to strengthen Americans’ spirituality. In the early decades of the nineteenth century, their efforts bore fruit. “Sects and creeds, doctrines and disquisitions, preachers and people, sermons and societies, plans and projects; excitements and conversions, you may hear talked of wherever you go—in stage-coaches and steam-boats, in shops and bar-rooms, nay in ball-rooms and parties of pleasure, and in short, every where,” Orville Dewey, an Englishman traveling in New England, wrote to a friend back home in 1827. It was a revival meeting in Burlington that ignited the religious fire in William. Convinced he had been “called,” William left behind the law and his Anglican upbringing to become a Free Baptist preacher. He was ordained in Waterville, Vermont, in 1828.


A short time later, William accepted an offer to lead a congregation in Fairfield, Vermont, in the northwest corner of the state. It was a bucolic setting: Fairfield was nestled in the Green Mountains, and in the surrounding valleys brooks flowed lazily toward the Missisquoi River and Lake Champlain. The parish was in the process of building a parsonage, so William, Malvina, and their four daughters—Regina, Jane, Almeda, and Ann Eliza—were housed in a large log cabin. At first, William preached in a nearby schoolhouse. The new minister moved haltingly around his pulpit, dragging his injured leg behind him, but he did not waver in preaching the gospel. Speaking in a strong Irish accent, he admonished his parishioners that the words in the Bible were without error and were to be taken literally. He told them that all of Adam’s descendants had inherited his fallen nature, and thus had a natural inclination to sin. Man could only be pardoned and forgiven for his sins when he admitted to God that he was a sinner, and when in godly sorrow he turned from those sins and trusted in the work of Christ as redemption for them. Salvation came by grace alone, not by works. God was wise and benevolent, but the preacher, now known as Elder Arthur, left his listeners with a stark warning: if they refused to repent and believe, if they drank or fornicated, they would forfeit their chance to be saved, condemning themselves to eternal damnation.


It was a harsh message, but many were eager to hear it. Before long, the crowds that came to hear Elder Arthur preach had grown too large for the schoolhouse, forcing him to move to a neighboring barn. Women and girls sat on planks and blocks of wood on the bare floor, while the men sat in the hayloft and on the scaffolds and the boys perched on the high roof beams, their skinny legs dangling in the musty air.


On one memorable occasion Elder Arthur preached for four straight hours, and some of his listeners “became so weary and excited that they got up their teams, put whips to their horses, and were never seen there again.” The preacher was witty and passionate, and in small gatherings his penetrating eyes and erudite conversation held listeners spellbound. But he also could be bitingly sarcastic, and his lack of tact alienated many potential friends. At one Baptist convention, a fellow minister, recently returned from the West, delivered a lengthy address describing conditions on the frontier. “I can tell the brethren,” the minister boasted, “that if they think any kind of ministers will do for the West, they are mistaken.” Elder Arthur jumped to his feet. “Mr. Moderator,” he said, “I never knew before why the brother came back.”


Sometimes Elder Arthur was brought low by the privations of his life as a young preacher, especially during the long winter months, when it was difficult for him to hobble outside for bread or firewood. To earn extra money, he took in students. “Instead of my attending school I recited to Elder Arthur, as he was called. He maintained the most rigid government in his family,” one former student remembered. “He was a hard-shell Baptist in the strictest sense of the word, and was earnest and enthusiastic in preaching his doctrines.” A half century later, when a newspaperman came to town to ask people what they remembered about Elder Arthur, Old John Baker claimed the preacher often joked about his injured leg. “He was a bit lame, and used to say in fun that he’d had a stone wall fall on his feet,” the old man recalled—adding that Elder Arthur said he was sorry he could not chase down his students to punish them.


On October 5, 1829, a momentous event prompted uncharacteristic joy in the mostly joyless preacher: Malvina gave birth to a son. The boy was named Chester, after the doctor who had delivered him, Dr. Chester Abell, who also happened to be Malvina’s cousin. Unable to contain his happiness, Elder Arthur momentarily succumbed to the devil’s wiles and danced a celebratory jig.


Elder Arthur’s dedication to the abolitionist cause did not endear him to church deacons, trustees, or parishioners. A man “who formed his opinions without much reference to the views of others,” he would not smooth the rough edges of his beliefs or soften his pronouncements in deference to prevailing opinion. After two years, Elder Arthur was no longer welcome in Fairfield. Fortunately, the outspoken minister was offered another Baptist congregation in Williston, Vermont, a flourishing town of about 1,600 on the stagecoach route between Burlington and Montpelier. It had an academy taught by the Baptist pastor, and Elder Arthur succeeded in this dual role—but only temporarily. A year later, the family was on the move again, this time to a nearby congregation in Hinesburgh. That position only lasted two years, and the Arthurs joined a steady flow of migrants to western New York, settling first near the Erie Canal in Perry, and then moving 14 miles north, to York. By this time the Arthurs had two more children, a son named William and a daughter named Malvina.
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When the church doors banged open, the first protesters who rushed inside charged immediately for the bell rope. Spencer Kellogg, an abolitionist who owned a nearby dry goods store, had been standing in front of the church, trying to pacify the surging crowd. He had failed in that mission, but he was determined to prevent the mob from disrupting the abolitionists’ meeting by ringing the bell. Kellogg grabbed the rope, but as he did a half-dozen men tackled him, ripping the coat from his back. “Kill him! Kill the damn fanatic!” somebody cried. When Kellogg’s son rushed to his aid, the mob left the merchant sprawled on the floor and turned its attention to what was going on inside the church. “Stop that reading! We won’t hear it!” the men shouted as they swarmed into the aisles. “Knock him down! Hustle out old Stewart! Beardsley, say the word and we will tear old Stewart to pieces in an instant!”


Lewis Tappan, an abolitionist leader who later would become known for his efforts to free the Africans on the Spanish slave ship Amistad, hurriedly read a declaration of principles and called for a vote to adjourn. But the mob was not pacified. It surrounded Oliver Wetmore, the elderly minister who had been recording the proceedings, and ordered him to hand over the minutes. Rutger Miller, a court clerk, took the lead. “I will be damned if I don’t have the papers if I have to knock you down to get them!” In a final humiliation, Reverend Wetmore had to relinquish the minutes to his own son, who was among those who had stormed the church.


Later the mob would display the minutes, along with other captured abolitionist documents and the key to the church, as trophies at the Oneida County Courthouse. The mob harangued and shoved Elder Arthur and the rest of the departing abolitionists, many of whom headed for Clark’s Hotel, where Gerrit Smith, a well-known attorney and philanthropist, was staying. An active campaigner for temperance, Smith had established one of the nation’s first “temperance hotels” in his hometown of Peterboro, some 25 miles away. Smith wasn’t an abolitionist, but he was appalled by Utica’s persecution of them, and he offered to host their convention at his Peterboro estate. The abolitionists gratefully accepted Smith’s invitation, perhaps swayed by the continuing taunts of their enemies, who had now assembled outside the hotel. As the abolitionists left town, the remnants of the Utica mob pelted them with mud, eggs, clubs, and stones, knocking one abolitionist unconscious.


During the 1830s anti-abolitionist riots were a common occurrence, even in the North. On the same day the mob broke up the abolitionists’ convention in Utica, William Lloyd Garrison narrowly escaped a public lynching by a mob determined to break up a meeting of the Boston Female Anti-Slavery Society. Men wielding knives cut Garrison’s clothes and hat to tatters and were prepared to do worse when “two burly Irishmen” seized him and turned him over to constables. They shoved the abolitionist into a carriage and bolted to the Leverett Street jail, where he was locked up overnight for his own protection. In July 1834, anti-abolitionist rioters rampaged for four nights in New York City. In July 1836, a Cincinnati mob destroyed the presses of the Philanthropist, an abolitionist newspaper; the next year, editor Elijah P. Lovejoy of Alton, Illinois, was shot and killed in a similar melee. In 1838, a mob in Philadelphia torched Pennsylvania Hall just three days after it opened because abolitionists had been allowed to hold a meeting there.
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In the autumn of 1839 the Arthurs moved yet again, this time to Union Village, near Saratoga. Chester was nine years old, and up to that point he had received his schooling at home, from his father. In Union Village, Chester enrolled in a local academy to begin his formal education. “Frank and open in manners and genial in disposition,” Chester impressed his teachers and was popular with his classmates. When the children in the neighborhood built a mud dam after a downpour, Chester was the kind of boy who took charge of the project. He ordered this boy to bring stones, that one sticks, and another scoops of mud to finish the dam. He enjoyed giving orders and his friends followed them—but he didn’t like to get his own hands dirty.


Even before Elder Arthur arrived, the church at Union Village had been roiled by disagreements over slavery and temperance, and the new minister churned the waters. He forged a close friendship with Gerrit Smith, who had converted to the abolitionist cause after the Utica riot and was now an organizer of the antislavery Liberty Party, and with Erastus D. Culver, an abolitionist lawyer and state assemblyman. Again, Elder Arthur’s friendships and radical views alienated many of his parishioners. In the summer of 1844, the Arthurs moved to Schenectady, where Elder Arthur became pastor of the First Baptist Church.


Schenectady was struggling economically, but it had two well-respected educational institutions: the Lyceum and Academy, and Union College. Now a teenager, Chester continued his formal education at the Lyceum, which was housed in a three-story octagonal building at the corner of Union and Yates Streets. After a year, he enrolled as a sophomore at Union College.


The president of the college was Eliphalet Nott, who was in his fifth decade at the helm. Seventy-two years old when Arthur arrived, “Old Prex” was a beloved figure who rode around campus in his custom-made three-wheeled carriage. Raised “pious and poor” on a hardscrabble farm in Ashford, Connecticut, Nott spent much of his childhood living and working in the home of his brother Samuel, a Congregationalist minister who was 19 years older. Samuel beat his little brother regularly. When Eliphalet grew up to become a teacher and principal, he made up his mind to “substitute moral motives in the place of the rod” in his own dealings with young people.


From the time he became president of Union in 1804, Nott welcomed the admission of many young men (the college did not admit women) who had been expelled from other institutions, earning Union College the nickname of “Botany Bay,” a reference to the first planned penal colony in Australia. Union College was a prestigious institution—at the time it was considered on par with Harvard, Yale, and Princeton—but Nott believed in instilling self-discipline in young men, rather than subjecting them to strict external control. “Disgraceful punishments are not inflicted,” the course catalogue assured Arthur and his fellow students, a group that included a future governor of Pennsylvania, a future Tammany mayor of New York City, and James Roosevelt, whose son Franklin would lead the country through depression and war. “But no young man who indulges in gaming, intemperance, or other vice, who is absent from his room at night, or who habitually neglects his studies, can be allowed to remain.”


Union College was non-denominational, but it was firmly Christian. Monday through Saturday, the three hundred students were required to attend morning prayers (about 10 minutes) and late afternoon prayers (about 20 minutes) in the college chapel, and on Sundays they had to attend services in a local church designated by their parents. Each day started at 6:30 a.m., when bells rang across the heavily wooded campus to awaken students for early morning prayers, which began at 7 a.m. After that students attended the first recitation, then breakfast, study at 9 a.m., another recitation at 11 a.m., study at 1 p.m., another recitation at 4 p.m., and study at 7 p.m.


The unpopular bells were a frequent target of student mischief. In one incident, students “offended with the bell-ringer” tried to blow up the South Colonnade bell in the middle of the night. Another time, students stole the clapper and left it on President Nott’s doorstep. Chester, known to his classmates as Chet, was an eager participant in such pranks. He once threw the West College bell into the Erie Canal, and he carved his name at least twice into college buildings. He was fined for breaking a pane of glass, and for skipping out on chapel. During his senior year, he had to pay a hefty fifty-cent fine for writing in ink in a book.


In addition to being an educator, Nott was a well-known inventor who had patented 30 different kinds of stoves and designed an innovative steamship boiler. Under his leadership, Union became one of the first colleges in the United States to offer courses of study in natural science and engineering. But Chet opted for the traditional classical curriculum, which meant three years poring over Livy, Horace, Herodotus, Thucydides, Cicero, and Homer in the original Greek and Latin. Elder Arthur, who spoke Latin, Greek, and Hebrew, might have pushed his son in that direction.


Like all Union students, in his senior year Chet took a class taught by Nott, which was nominally based on the 1762 book Elements of Criticism by the Scottish jurist Henry Home, or Lord Kames. In fact, it was a lesson in independent thinking, and it became so famous that students transferred to Union just to take it. Nott wanted students to “believe nothing merely because it is asserted by any author.” William James Sullivan, who took Nott’s course the same year Arthur did, remembered it as “a perpetual contest of our wits against his; he showed us the shallowness of our acquisitions, and dissected mercilessly both textbook and the responses to the questions he had drawn from it, admitting nothing and pushing the pupil perpetually into the deeper water as soon as he began to think his foot had touched firm land.”


Slender and sociable, with fashionably long hair and a cheerful disposition, Chet was popular among his classmates. He was elected to one of the social fraternities, Psi Upsilon, and was president of the Delphian Institute, a debating society. Though not a particularly diligent student, he still ranked high in his class: He was elected to Phi Beta Kappa—though a third of his 78 classmates were, too. Ten of the graduating seniors had a perfect record of 500 and seven, including Arthur, got 499. Arthur’s graduation ceremony in July 1848 featured 44 student orations, in addition to prayers, Greek and Latin salutatories, four musical interludes, and the awarding of the degrees. Chet, the eleventh speaker, spoke on “The Destiny of Genius.”


After graduation Chet followed his father’s first career path, setting out to become a lawyer. He had spent his college vacations teaching school in nearby Schaghticoke to help cover his college tuition and expenses. After a few months at the State and National Law School in Ballston Spa, he studied law on his own while teaching in Schaghticoke to make money.


Arthur was doggedly practical in pursuing his legal career, but there was another aspect to his personality. Even as he waded through cases and instructed his young charges, he forged passionate friendships with two other young men, relationships suffused with the romanticism of the middle of the nineteenth century. Chester referred to Campbell Allen as “John,” and Campbell called him “Zack.” Together with a third young man, James Masten, who would marry Chester’s sister Almeda, the three were devoted companions. In a letter to John, Chester describes “sitting up like owls till two or three in the morning with our pipes, over the warm fire—quite satisfied with our little world within and philosophically discussing the world without—laying bare to each other our mutual plans, hopes & fears, adventures and experiences & so cozily chatting and smoking—& then tumbling into bed in the ‘wee sma hours’ & falling soundly asleep in each other’s arms.”


In 1851, Elder Arthur helped secure a position for his son as the principal of a school in a church basement in North Pownal, Vermont. In November 1852, Chester moved on to the High Department of the District School in Cohoes, New York. He was appointed principal and assigned to teach a rowdy group of boys who had chased out four of his predecessors. His sisters Almeda, 26, and Malvina, 20, also were teachers there. Arthur was determined to “conquer the school or forfeit his reputation.”


On his first morning in class, he told the students he was aware of their dismal record but that he saw no reason why teachers and students could not live together in harmony—provided they respected each other’s rights. He would not threaten them, he promised, but he would insist that they obey him. The class ringleaders smirked, and then one 13-year-old sent a marble shooting across the floor. Arthur strode over to the perpetrator. “Get up, sir.” The boy remained in his seat. “Get up, sir,” Arthur repeated, this time seizing the transgressor by his collar, as if to drag him to his feet. At this the boy stood up, trembling. Arthur commanded him to follow him into the hall. Then, unbeknownst to the boy’s classmates, he marched him into the classroom where the primary grades were meeting. “I have a pupil for you,” Arthur said, presenting the troublemaker to the teacher there. Arthur’s face was blank when he returned to the other students, and he did not reveal what he had done.


During the course of the morning, he gave the same treatment to two other boys—again, without disclosing to the remaining students what had happened to them. The three remained in the primary room through recess. At the end of the day, Arthur confronted them. Instead of berating them, however, he spoke kindly to them, merely urging them to do better before sending them home. Somehow, the strategy worked. Within two weeks, Arthur had tamed the unruly students and earned their admiration.


There were lectures, church meetings, and reading societies to stimulate and entertain the residents of Cohoes after working hours, but on many frigid nights people preferred passing the time in each other’s homes. Almeda and Malvina were living with their eldest sister, Regina, and her husband, William Caw, and Chester and his friends often stopped by to visit. On January 19, 1853, Malvina described a typical night’s entertainment in her diary. Early in the evening, Regina and Almeda attended a sewing society meeting, while Malvina visited her close friend Josephine. Malvina returned to the Caw residence shortly after 9 p.m., “and found here Chester, Campbell, and Mr. Masten, and just now they are having considerable fun trying to make the table tip by magnetizing it.” On February 1, Malvina, Chester, and Josephine went to hear Mrs. C. Oakes Smith lecture on “The Dignity of Labor,” then “had a dull time” at Mrs. Brown’s before returning home at around midnight. And a few weeks after that, Malvina concluded “another rainy, gloomy day” with an evening party at Mary Clarke’s. “Had a miserable time, had worked myself into a miserable frame of mind, before I went. To my shame be it confessed. I should be the last one to complain of the thoughts and actions of those around me, I who make myself so miserable, with my jealous, selfish feelings.”


Cohoes depressed Malvina—she called it a “little dirty cubby hole”—but it was heaven compared to living with her parents. Chester’s appointment at the Cohoes District School ended on March 1, 1853, and Malvina and Almeda lost their teaching jobs there at the end of the same month. Now, to Malvina’s horror, she would have to return to her parents’ home. The young woman worshipped her mother, who sang in the church choir and dutifully accompanied her husband on visits to parishioners’ homes. “Ma came up to take a look at me before she went to bed. I do believe if ever there was an angel on the face of the earth it is her. I wish I could be more careful about grieving her,” she wrote.


The problem was Elder Arthur. His staunch self-righteousness and unwavering faith oppressed Malvina, who confided to her diary that she was not even a Christian. “I do wonder that I can sit unmoved Sabbath after Sabbath, and be so little affected by the sermons I hear. Nothing on the subject appears to affect me.” She acknowledged she felt happy every time her father left the house, and admitted, guiltily, that she wished “I could be let entirely alone. It disturbs me to have him distress himself so much about me. I could keep out of his way if it were not for coming to the table.”


As an unmarried woman, Malvina had little choice but to remain with her parents until she found a husband. But Chester had no such restriction. He was ready to work in an attorney’s office and make his final preparations for passing the New York bar. He had soaring ambitions, and he knew he could not fulfill them in tiny Cohoes. The great and growing metropolis to the south was the natural place for the aspiring lawyer to chase his fortune. Elder Arthur’s abolitionist friend Erastus D. Culver, who had moved to Brooklyn in 1850, had a thriving law practice at 289 Broadway in Manhattan, and he agreed to take on his friend’s son. Chester left upstate New York and his father’s rigid rule for a new life in the big city.













CHAPTER TWO



“This Is the Place”


ARTHUR DIDN’T DOUBT his decision to move to New York, but during his first months there he longed for his family and his friends James and John, the other two members of what the three affectionately dubbed “the Triangle.” His separation from John, who was bedridden with what was probably tuberculosis, was especially painful. “I feel often sad and lonely, and unusually so this morning because my thoughts are with you,” Chester wrote to his ailing friend in December 1853. “I sometimes get very weary and tired of city life and think I would not like to pass my days here after all. Yet if one is ambitious and makes it the great object of life to succeed there is no doubt but this is the place.”


The past was tugging at Arthur again when he sat down to write John a month later. “How innumerable are the thoughts that come thronging up, the remembrances, painful and pleasant, as I write 1854 and in reviewing the past year, its joys and sorrows, hopes and fears, successes and disappointments, the associations of the Triangle stand out like golden threads in all the tangled web.”


The letters Arthur wrote to his friends and family were affectionate, but they also were filled with apologies—for not writing more often, for not coming home to visit. He wanted to be a loyal son, brother, and friend, but despite his bouts of nostalgia he was focused on his future, and that future lay in New York City.


The metropolis itself was hurtling forward, as was evident from the piles of timber, iron, and stone heaped on the sidewalks outside Erastus Culver’s law office. Not long before, English writers had belittled Broadway’s flimsy wood-frame houses and stubby brick stores, but now the modest buildings crouching between Bowling Green and Canal Street were being swept aside by five- and six-story structures of marble and granite. By the time Arthur arrived in New York in March 1853, English visitors marveled that Broadway’s stores and hotels were “more like the palaces of kings than places for the transaction of business.” Scarlet and yellow omnibuses thundered up and down Broadway, the biggest fish in a river pulsing with private carriages, hotel stagecoaches, two-horse hackneys, and carts and wagons piled high with merchandise. The sound of iron wheels on granite pavement was like “the sound of Niagara… but sharper and harsher—a great corroding roar, that seems to gnaw the earth like corroding fire.” Omnibus passengers paid their fares—six cents for any distance—through an opening in the roof, and pulled a strap attached to the driver’s ankle when they wished to stop. Gentlemen gallantly jumped out to help ladies alight from the vehicles and held umbrellas over them if it was raining. But pedestrians crossing Broadway risked sinking into a sea of mud. To reach the safety of the sidewalk, they had to run a gauntlet of wheels and hooves.


Even among the palaces, Alexander T. Stewart’s department store, at the corner of Broadway and Chambers Street, stood out. At Stewart’s, where cashmere shawls could be had for a stunning $2,000, shoppers were drawn into an oval-shaped rotunda, illuminated by a dome and ringed by a gallery designed as a place for ladies to promenade. The frescoed floor and ceilings portrayed symbols of commerce, and three hundred salesmen and clerks serviced its two acres of floor space. In Broadway’s luxurious hotels, many people experienced gas lighting, interior plumbing, and steam heat for the first time. In an early experiment in climate control, the Astor House courtyard featured an iron and glass enclosure in which warm air was blown in from below during the winter months and jets of cool air, moistened by fountains, were blown in during the summer. At the St. Nicholas, 322 servants catered to a thousand guests. In the hotel’s mirrored dining room, diners could choose from 2 soups, 2 kinds of fish, 10 boiled dishes, 9 roast dishes, 6 relishes, 17 entrees, 3 cold dishes, 5 varieties of game, 13 vegetables, 7 pastries, and 7 types of fruit. “Groups of extraordinary-looking human beings” lounged on the doorsteps of the leading Broadway hotels at all hours, smoking, whittling, and reading newspapers. “There are southerners sighing for their sunny homes, smoking Havana cigars; western men, with that dashing free-and-easy air which renders them unmistakable; (and) Englishmen, shrouded in exclusiveness, who look on all their neighbours as so many barbarian intruders on their privacy,” wrote Isabella Bird, the 23-year-old daughter of an English missionary.


There were hundreds of oyster cellars, coffee houses, ice cream saloons, and restaurants on Broadway, but “the most superb of these,” Bird and many others believed, was on the corner of Broadway and Franklin Street. At a time when most eateries were reserved for men, Taylor’s Saloon was known as a mecca for lady shoppers, who made the rounds of Broadway’s fashionable stores wearing costly silks and rich brocades that swept the sidewalks like so many dustmen. Taylor’s had a marble floor, marble walls, and a marble ceiling decorated with intricate scrollwork carved into gilded cornices that soared 22 feet above the diners’ heads. The white marble walls were covered with mirrors in gilded frames, and a row of fluted marble pillars ran down either side of the room. An alcove at one end of the restaurant was filled with orange trees, and a 17-foot crystal fountain cooled the diners, who lounged on chairs and sofas covered with crimson and gold cloth. The air was “redolent with the perfume of orange blossoms, the sound of trickling water and the melody of musical snuff boxes.” Many came to Taylor’s just to see it, and instead of sitting down for a meal they ordered ice cream from large reservoirs that shined like polished silver, sparkling in a hundred burning gas lamps. Even at midnight, passersby who peered through the windows could watch waiters flitting up and down noiselessly, pirouetting between marble tables. “’Tis here that mothers suffer young daughters to come at this untimely midnight hour to drink ‘light wines,’ or eat ice cream, drugged with passion-exciting vanilla,” one disapproving observer wrote.


Clustered around Mercer Street, just west of Broadway, were gambling houses and brothels so “open, free, and undisguised,” the Tribune noted sarcastically, that surely they could not be what they seemed. They had to be respectable, the paper declared, because “they are frequently visited by gentlemen of the best standing… such as aldermen, judges, lawyers, assemblymen, state officers, country merchants and others.” Barnum’s American Museum, housed in four conjoined buildings at the corner of Broadway and Ann Street, offered different delights. The showman Phineas T. Barnum presented, by his own count, 850,000 exotic animals, paintings, wax figures, and historical artifacts, not to mention sideshow curiosities such as the Feejee Mermaid—billed as a mummified maiden, but actually the desiccated head of a monkey and the body of an orangutan, attached to the back of a fish—and the famous midget Tom Thumb. When Barnum discovered the four-year-old Charles Sherwood Stratton, who stood 25 inches high and weighed only 15 pounds, he “at once determined to secure his services from his parents and to exhibit him in public.” Barnum hired the boy for three dollars a week, plus room and board, and billed him as 11-year-old “General Tom Thumb, Man in Miniature,” recently arrived from England.


The everyday people on Broadway were as exotic as Barnum’s attractions. Arthur admired the businessmen who swaggered down Broadway in their conservative suits, the bearded dandies who strutted by wearing slim trousers, and the women who floated above the pavement in their fluttering ribbons and rainbow silks. But while New York’s upper classes shopped, dined, and entertained themselves on Broadway, the city’s richest residents lived on Fifth Avenue. Hulking brownstone mansions with massive staircases lorded over what a contemporary guidebook described as “the most magnificent street on this continent.” Silver door handles and bell pulls granted entry to interiors “gorgeously fitted up with satin and velvet draperies, rich Axminster carpets, marble and inlaid tables, and large looking-glasses.”


To an immigrant preacher’s son from upstate, all this seemed otherworldly—and yet not unattainable. This was not Europe, where the wealthiest class was composed of aristocrats who had inherited their money and didn’t work. The wealthiest New Yorkers were businessmen, most of them still actively engaged in commerce. The upper echelons of New York society were “in a state of constant fluctuation, in accordance with the fluctuating fortunes of commercial life,” wrote Alexander Mackay, an English lawyer and journalist, in 1846. “Its doors are guarded, but they seem never to be closed, and you have a constant stream flowing in and out.” Americans heard the term “millionaire” for the first time during the 1840s, and many of the men who earned the title had come from nothing. Men such as John Jacob Astor, a poor German immigrant boy who amassed $20 million trading furs and buying and selling New York real estate. Or George Law, who left his father’s upstate farm, walked to Troy, studied masonry, found work on the Delaware and Hudson Canal, and went on to make millions in construction. And then there was Cornelius Vanderbilt, the richest of them all, who launched a ferry service between Staten Island and Manhattan when he was only 16 and transformed it into a steamship and rail empire. When “the Commodore” died in 1877, he was worth a staggering $100 million, about $2.3 billion in 2017 dollars.


And yet there was another side of New York, one that could be glimpsed by peering down Broadway’s side streets, where pigs picked over rotten vegetables and the detritus of modern life—old hats without crowns, worn-out shoes, lidless flour barrels, and toppled earthenware jars full of coal ashes—made it difficult for pedestrians to pass. On those streets, ragged women carried bundles of broken boards and old timbers from demolished buildings, trailed by children loaded down with only slightly lighter burdens. Hobbled old men and shoeless scrawny girls in filthy cotton frocks carried cedar pails filled with ears of corn, trying to tempt well-dressed New Yorkers with their plaintive cries of “Hot corn! Here’s your nice hot corn—smoking hot, smoking hot, just from the pot!” Many of the vagrant children who wandered lower Manhattan—an estimated three thousand of them in 1850—survived by scavenging or selling fruits, nuts, or petty merchandise. Others stole from stores or the docks, or became pickpockets or junior members of adult gangs. In 1851, a fourth of the 16,000 criminals sent to City Prison were younger than 21—eight hundred were younger than 15 and 175 were younger than 10. To many New Yorkers, the specter of young girls living on the streets was especially horrifying. “No one can walk the length of Broadway,” George Templeton Strong wrote in 1851, “without meeting some hideous troop of ragged girls, from 12 years old down, brutalized beyond redemption by premature vice, clad in the filthy refuse of the rag picker’s collections, obscene of speech, the stamp of childhood gone from their faces, hurrying along with harsh laughter and foulness on their lips… with thief written in their cunning eyes and whore on their depraved faces.”


Many of the poorest New Yorkers were recent immigrants—by 1850, nearly half of the city’s residents had been born overseas. The newcomers, most of them Irish and German, were packed into squalid, suffocating tenements in slums such as Five Points, where cholera, typhus, and tuberculosis were rampant and the murder rate was the highest in the Western world. “Debauchery has made the very houses prematurely old,” Charles Dickens wrote after visiting Five Points in 1842. “See how the rotten beams are tumbling down, and how the patched and broken windows seem to scowl dimly, like eyes that have been hurt in drunken forays.” Vicious gangs—the Plug Uglies, the Dead Rabbits, the Bowery B’hoys, and others—terrorized Five Points and similarly dismal districts, stealing, brawling, and killing without interference from the overmatched police.


Then there was the smell. The horses of New York—some 22,500 pulled the city’s omnibuses and streetcars, and individual households owned many more—left steaming tons of manure in the streets. The stench from milk factories, cattle yards, and pigpens; the rotting corpses of horses, cows, pigs, dogs, and cats, which might lie in the street for days; overflowing cesspools and faulty sewers; the bones, blood, and offal left over from the slaughtering process—all of it combined to create “atmospheric poison” and “gaseous filth” that filled one’s lungs with “vaporized decomposing gutter mud and rottenness,” Strong wrote in his diary in 1854. Poor sanitation contributed to periodic cholera outbreaks; during an epidemic in 1849, one out of every hundred New Yorkers perished. But even in years without cholera, the mortality rate was extraordinarily high: fewer than half of the children born in the city in the 1850s survived to the age of six.
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In this city of stark contrasts and multiple nationalities, black New Yorkers occupied peculiar ground. Freed from slavery in 1827, they were native-born Americans who were treated as second-class citizens—at best. Like immigrants, they were forced to live in neighborhoods shunned by the middle and upper classes. They were barred from many restaurants and workplaces, and attended segregated schools and churches. Some of the omnibuses and horse-drawn streetcars barred all black riders, while others restricted them to specially designated cars that ran at infrequent intervals. Even P. T. Barnum, loath to turn away any paying customer, permitted African Americans to visit his American Museum only at certain advertised times. Once admitted they had to sit in special sections set aside for “colored persons.”


A young schoolteacher who refused to tolerate the indignity she suffered on a streetcar gave Chester Arthur his first chance to shine as an attorney.


Elizabeth Jennings, 27, taught at the private African Free School and was the organist at the First Colored Congregational Church. Her grandfather, Jacob Cartwright, had been a soldier in the Revolutionary War, and her father, Thomas L. Jennings, was a founder of the New York African Society for Mutual Relief and a leader in the black community. Born to a free black family in New York, Thomas was a successful tailor who invented a process called “dry scouring” for cleaning clothes, for which he received a patent from the state of New York in 1821. He used his initial earnings to purchase his wife out of indentured servitude (under New York’s gradual abolition law of 1799, children born to slave mothers after July 4, 1799, were considered born free, but had to serve apprenticeships to their masters until they were young adults).


On Sunday, July 16, 1854, Elizabeth and her friend Sarah Adams walked to the corner of Pearl and Chatham Streets to catch the Third Avenue streetcar, which was pulled by horses on an embedded steel track. After a few minutes the Number 6 appeared, and Jennings raised her hand to signal the driver to stop. The car did not have a “Colored Persons Allowed” placard in its rear window, but the women were running late for church, and they didn’t have time to wait for a car that did. Holding her bonnet in place with one hand and clutching her organ music in the other, Elizabeth stepped forward to board the car. Even though the driver had pulled over to allow Jennings and Adams to board, the conductor blocked her way, informing her in a thick Irish brogue that the car was full. Jennings explained that they could not wait for another car, because they were in a hurry to get to church. The conductor held firm. “He then told me that the other car had my people in it, that it was appropriate for ‘my people.’ I told him I had no ‘people.’ I wished to go to church and did not wish to be detained. He still kept driving me off the car; said he had as much time as I had and could wait just as long. I replied, ‘Very well, we’ll see.’” A few tense minutes passed. The streetcar driver shifted uncomfortably in his seat. Finally, the conductor relented.


“Well, you may go in,” he said. “But remember if the passengers raise any objections you shall go out, whether or no, or I’ll put you out.”


This pricked the pride of the young teacher. “I am a respectable person, born and raised in New York,” Jennings declared, her voice rising in anger. “I don’t know where you were born, but you are a good-for-nothing impudent fellow for insulting decent persons while on their way to church!”


The conductor, enraged, grabbed Jennings to eject her from the car, but she got hold of the window sash and refused to budge. “Do not lay hands on me!” she cried. When the conductor managed to wrench her hand from the window, Jennings transferred her grip to his coat. The woman’s strength surprised the conductor, who shouted at the driver to secure the horses and help him subdue her. Together they seized the teacher’s arms and began dragging her from the car, her feet in the air and her head brushing against the platform. “Murder!” screamed Jennings, her dress soiled and her bonnet smashed. “You’ll kill her! Don’t kill her!” Adams cried. The driver released his grip and returned to his reins. The struggle was over—but only temporarily. “You shall sweat for this,” the conductor snarled, ordering the driver to keep going until he saw a police officer or station house. When they spied a policeman on the corner of Walker and Bower, the driver halted the horses so the officer could climb aboard. After listening to the conductor’s account, the policeman ordered Jennings out of the car, taunting her to “get redress if I could… after dragging me off the car he drove me away like a dog, saying not to be talking there and raising a mob or fight.”


The next day, Jennings admitted being “sore and stiff from the treatment I received from those monsters in human form,” but she was unbowed. She wrote up an account of the incident, which was read aloud at a meeting of prominent black citizens at the First Colored Congregational Church. It was then forwarded to the Tribune, edited by the abolitionist Horace Greeley, and to Frederick Douglass’ Paper. Both reprinted it in full. With the financial backing of her family and the outraged black community, Jennings filed a lawsuit against the conductor, the driver, and the Third Avenue Railroad Company, seeking $500 in damages. Thomas Jennings hired the firm of Culver, Parker and Arthur to represent his daughter.


Jennings v. Third Avenue Railroad Company was assigned to 24-year-old Arthur, the firm’s junior partner. The case came to trial on February 22, 1855, in the New York Supreme Court, Brooklyn Circuit. In arguing the case, Arthur called Judge William Rockwell’s attention to a recently enacted state law holding common carriers liable for the acts of their agents and employees, whether those acts were committed negligently or maliciously. The lawyers for the Third Avenue Railroad Company knew their defense had crumbled when Rockwell instructed the jury that common carriers were bound to transport any respectable person, “even colored persons, if sober, well-behaved, and free from disease.” The jury awarded Jennings $225, to which the court added $25 plus costs. “Railroads, steamboats, omnibuses, and ferry boats will be admonished from this, as to the rights of respectable colored people,” Greeley’s Tribune wrote. “It is high time the rights of this class of citizens were ascertained, and that it should be known whether they are to be thrust from our public conveyances, while German or Irish women, with a quarter of mutton or a load of codfish, can be admitted.”


The Jennings decision did not immediately desegregate all of New York’s streetcar lines, which were owned by several different companies, but it set the process in motion. For years after, the Colored People’s Legal Rights Association celebrated the anniversary of the verdict.
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Arthur told his family and friends that he was working hard; Culver had been elected city judge of Brooklyn and had handed over many of the day-to-day legal duties to his junior partner. But there is no evidence that the young lawyer boasted of his role in the momentous Jennings case. “I have been quite well all winter and have worked pretty hard, but aside from business, no event of unusual interest has occurred to change the ‘even tenor of my way,’” Chester wrote to his sister Annie less than three weeks after his historic triumph. “Mr. Culver, our ‘senior,’ as you may have learned has been elected City Judge of Brooklyn for a term of six years, and though he has not left the firm still he can not devote much of his time to our business and consequently much more devolves on me than before, as I have to fill his place as well as I can in the trial of causes in the courts. It will be much better for me in the end but it comes rather hard at first.”


On many evenings Arthur left the office at 6:30, too exhausted for after-hours entertainment. Sometimes he visited the Culver residence for a home-cooked meal, and occasionally he ventured out to the theater, but on most nights he returned to his boarding house, changed into his dressing gown and slippers, and lounged in a plush armchair pulled close to the warm grate of the fireplace. He often stayed up chatting with his roommate, Henry Gardiner, another fledgling lawyer in the Culver firm. “I have not been to a place of amusement three times during the winter. I do not care much for it,” he wrote his mother.


Now almost 26, Arthur was strikingly handsome. He had a powerful build, a wispy beard, and stylishly long hair, which he carefully arranged to reveal just the lobes of his ears. But at an age when many of his peers were starting families, Chester had never been in love. “I am yet heart-whole and bid fair, I fear, to become an old bachelor,” Chester wrote his sister Annie in March 1855:




I feel the want of near and dear friends—more near and dear than any I have here—who can sympathize with and cheer me when I am dispirited and harassed with the cares and vexations of business—of sisters and brother, father and mother who I know love and care for me, and who I assure you dear sister are becoming nearer and dearer to me every day, for I feel every day how hard it is to fill their place—I have been as lonesome at times this winter as a little homesick schoolboy.





To an inexperienced young man from upstate, the fashionable ladies of New York, who conformed strictly to the Journal des Modes that arrived from Paris every fortnight, must have been an intimidating lot. They wore the finest and costliest embroidered muslin, and carried extravagantly expensive fans with ruby or emerald pins. “Surely Solomon in all his glory or the Queen of Sheba when she came to visit him in state was not arrayed so magnificently as these New York damsels,” William Makepeace Thackeray wrote in 1852.


Arthur’s romantic fortunes changed in 1856, when the 19-year-old cousin of a second roommate, a young medical student named Dabney Herndon, came to visit New York. Ellen Herndon’s dark brown hair and eyes contrasted sharply with her ghostly white skin, giving her an ethereal quality. She was thin, and stood with her elbows tucked in at her waist. But her dignified carriage belied a sunny personality, and she took great pride in her rich contralto singing voice. She was the daughter of US Navy captain William Lewis Herndon, an explorer who had become famous a few years before for leading an expedition that explored the Amazon River from its headwaters to its mouth. Nell, as everybody called her, was born in Culpeper House, Virginia, and her family’s roots in the Old Dominion reached back to the seventeenth century. But she had spent most of her life in Washington, where her mother, the former Elizabeth Frances Hansbrough, hobnobbed with the capital’s elite. As a young girl, Nell sang in the youth choir of St. John’s Church on Lafayette Square, across from the White House. There she met and befriended another member of the church, former First Lady Dolley Madison, nearly 70 years her senior. As a teenager, Nell helped her mother entertain Washington’s leading political and military figures, and during summers the two women (Captain Herndon was often absent) moved between the upper-class resorts of Newport and Saratoga Springs, where they mixed with the elite of other cities. One contemporary described her as “one of the best specimens of the Southern woman.”


Smitten, Chester courted Nell in Saratoga and Lake George in the spring and summer of 1856. In the “soft moonlight nights of June,” the lovers cuddled “in our old place in the window-seat at Saratoga,” and together they relished “the golden fleeting hours at Lake George.” Chester had never been happier. “I know you are thinking of me now. I feel the pulses of your love answering to mine,” he wrote. “If I were with you now, you would go & sing for me ‘Robin Adair’ then you would come & sit by me—you would put your arms around my neck and press your soft sweet lips over my eyes. I can feel them now.”


But Arthur wrote that love letter to Nell, now his fiancée, from St. Joseph, Missouri, where he and Gardiner were waiting for a steamer to take them down the Missouri River to Kansas Territory. The nation’s long struggle over slavery was starting to boil in “Bleeding Kansas,” but new towns were springing up there like golden asters from the prairie. For ambitious young men like Arthur and Gardiner, there were fortunes to be made.













CHAPTER THREE



Bleeding Kansas


HEAVY SNOW WAS so rare in Kansas that farmers ploughed the prairies in January. The air was dry and pure, and cool western breezes blew steadily during the summer. There was no better land in the country for growing crops or raising livestock, and it was “safe to predict that, before another year rolls round, stores, mills, and manufactures will be in full operation… and all of the necessaries, as well as most of the luxuries of life will be found there.” To reach the Promised Land, all an enterprising emigrant had to do was cross the Missouri River, procure a horse or mule (assuming he already had a rifle and saddle bags), select a plot of land, record the boundaries, build a log house, and start working.


The New York “Kanzas” League promoted the wonders of Kansas Territory in a 58-page booklet it published in 1855. Chester Arthur may or may not have visited the league headquarters at 110 Broadway—just a short walk from Erastus Culver’s law office—or read the booklet, but he and his roommate Henry Gardiner certainly swallowed its claims. In the summer of 1857, the two lawyers joined thousands of farmers, land speculators, and railroad promoters flocking to Kansas after the Kansas-Nebraska Act opened the land for settlement in 1854.


Under the law, white male settlers in Kansas and Nebraska would be allowed to vote on whether to allow slavery, effectively repealing the Missouri Compromise of 1820, which had outlawed slavery in the former Louisiana Territory north of the 36°30’ latitude. Nebraska was so far north it was virtually guaranteed to become a free state, but Kansas was next to the slave state of Missouri, casting its fate into doubt. Thousands of proslavery and antislavery settlers flooded into Kansas to tip the scales, aware that the outcome of the election would alter the balance of power between North and South. The New York Kanzas League and groups like it wanted to ensure that Kansas became a free state by encouraging the migration of like-minded settlers. They secured reduced railway and steamboat fares, organized emigrants into settlement groups, and raised capital to construct mills, hotels, and other local improvements that might attract settlers from the North.


New Englanders and New Yorkers were only a small fraction of the Kansas settlers, but rumors spread throughout the South that hordes of Northerners were flooding into the disputed territory. To counter them, armed Missourians known as “Border Ruffians” poured over the Missouri-Kansas line to vote, illegally, for proslavery candidates for Congress and the territorial legislature. Their ballots brought to power a proslavery legislature that recreated the Missouri slave code, which made it illegal to even write or speak against slaveholding. The penalty for assisting a fugitive slave was 10 years of hard labor—or death. Outraged slavery opponents set up their own legislature in Topeka. Though congressional investigators concluded that the election that produced the proslavery legislature was fraudulent, Washington recognized the proslavery government as legitimate.


Emboldened by that stance, a judge ordered a grand jury to indict the leaders of the free-state legislature for treason. On May 11, 1856, a federal marshal claimed residents of Lawrence had interfered with the execution of the indictments and called for “law-abiding citizens of the territory” to gather for an incursion into the town. Ten days later, a force of about 750 Border Ruffians and recently arrived Southerners, led by proslavery sheriff Samuel J. Jones, swarmed into Lawrence. Marching under a South Carolina flag and carrying banners with inscriptions such as “THE SUPREMACY OF THE WHITE RACE,” they pillaged homes and stores and destroyed the offices of two abolitionist newspapers. “This is the happiest moment of my life,” Sheriff Jones said as he surveyed the smoldering ruins of the Free State Hotel, which had been built by the New England Emigrant Aid Company. “I determined to make the fanatics bow before me in the dust, and kiss the territorial law, and I have done it—by God, I have done it.”


The fiery abolitionist John Brown, who had recently joined several of his adult sons in Kansas, was enraged by the sacking of Lawrence, and by the townspeople’s failure to put up a fight. He would lead the forces of light on a mission to avenge that disgrace. On the night of May 24, Brown, three of his sons, and four other followers crept out of their encampment south of Lawrence and marched six miles north, toward the intersection of Mosquito Creek and Pottawatomie Creek. They were armed with revolvers, rifles, knives, and army surplus broadswords Brown had procured a few months earlier on his way to Kansas. The broadswords were hollow and loaded with quicksilver, which slid from the hilt to the point when the upraised weapon was swung, increasing the force of the blow. Broadswords were designed to slash and bludgeon, to mutilate and maim. Emblazoned with ornamental eagles, they were perfect for Brown’s purpose: to strike terror into the hearts of his enemies.


Brown and his followers didn’t find anybody in the first cabin they approached. The next cabin was the home of proslavery man James P. Doyle and his sons, William and Drury. When the elder Doyle answered the door, they ordered the old man to summon his sons and come outside. Instead, Doyle rushed inside to get his gun, but the abolitionists were prepared for a siege: they had balls of hay soaked in wet gunpowder, which they lit on fire and rolled into the cabin. Within minutes, the coughing and gasping Doyles staggered outside. After marching the family a quarter of a mile down the road, John Brown drew his revolver and shot James Doyle in the forehead, killing him instantly. Brown’s two younger sons immediately attacked the Doyle boys with their broadswords. They killed one of the sons quickly; the other managed to flee down the road a short distance before the Browns cut him down. Before the night was over, John Brown and his avengers had killed two other men at two other cabins. They left one of the corpses floating in Pottawatomie Creek.


Arthur knew all about the Border Ruffians and John Brown from reading the New York newspapers, but the groups encouraging settlement downplayed the dangers. “In traveling through slave States, the emigrant should avoid all unnecessary allusion to slavery; as on this topic, the slaveholder is peculiarly sensitive,” the New York Kanzas League noted drily. Its booklet reassured would-be settlers that, “by a courteous demeanor in his intercourse with the slaveholder, and proper reserve on the subject of slavery, the emigrant, without sacrifice of principle, will not only secure for himself kind treatment, but will also aid in removing the unjust prejudice now existing in the minds of slaveholders against Kanzas emigrants from free States.”
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Whatever the risks, Arthur was determined to seek his fortune in Kansas. He and Gardiner left New York early in the summer of 1857, traveling first to Michigan, then west to Wisconsin, where they visited Madison, Beloit, and Janesville. They spent some time in the Iowa towns of Burlington and Keokuk, and in St. Louis. On August 30, Arthur wrote Nell from St. Joseph, Missouri, a bustling town on the Missouri River where many pioneers gathered supplies before heading out in wagon trains to the Far West. Arthur and Gardiner were there for about a month, waiting for a steamer to take them 80 miles down the river to Leavenworth, Kansas. “It is a great waste of time to travel on the river. It is so low that the boats can make but slow progress, but even then it is much preferable to [traveling by stagecoach] in this new country,” Arthur reported. “I am desirous to learn as much as I can about the affairs and condition of Kansas.” He quickly shifted to more personal matters. “This is your birthday, my own precious darling, my own Nell. The remembrance came with my first awaking in the early morning—as the thought of you always does—and as I kissed your dear image, darling, my heart was full to overflowing with love and prayer for you!”


Leavenworth was a world away from New York: men tucked their pants into their boots and swaggered through swirls of dust with their revolvers holstered in plain sight. The town was a magnet for trappers, wagon train men, and people from the surrounding plains who came to participate in elections that were held on the slightest pretext, merely for entertainment. The next political event was a debate at the Planters’ House, a hotel in the center of town, and Arthur and Gardiner decided to attend. In a region where some hotels posted signs reminding male guests to remove their boots before getting into bed, the four-story, brick Planters’ House was a cut above: its light and airy bedrooms were elaborately furnished, and the tables in the hotel dining room were laid with silverware and dishes made by New York’s master craftsmen. The original owner, a proslavery man, ran it under “exclusive Southern principles”—that is, he turned away guests who openly opposed slavery. But soon two men from Michigan took over, announcing they would accept anybody.


The new policy managed to offend both sides: slavery opponents were upset that two Northerners accepted proslavery men as guests, while Southern sympathizers bristled at the ownership of two confirmed abolitionists. To keep the business of both camps, the owners came up with an ingenious system: in the bar and billiard room, they always had two bartenders on duty, one an abolitionist, the other proslavery. When a proslavery man came in, sunk his knife into the top of the bar and shouted, “I can lick any man born north of Mason and Dixon’s line!” the proslavery bartender encouraged him. At the same time, an abolitionist who claimed he could whip any man south of the dividing line received encouragement from the barman representing his camp. Any kind of talk was acceptable, but when angry words turned into action, the offender, no matter his politics, was sent to the basement to cool off.


On the day of the meeting, Arthur, Gardiner, and several other Eastern gentlemen were escorted to places of honor on a temporary platform erected outside the windows of the hotel office. John Calhoun, the surveyor general of the territory and a prominent proslavery figure, was scheduled to debate Marcus Parrott, the free-state legislature’s nominee for delegate to Congress. A parade of partisans from each side, “including earnest young lawyers from the South, who affected broadcloth and high-heeled boots,” took turns addressing the crowd. Parrott’s fiery speech aroused both camps. “You’re a liar!” a heckler shouted, prompting a retort from somebody sitting on the platform. Suddenly a shot rang out—and then another. Bullets ricocheted off the walls of the hotel as Arthur, Gardiner, and the other men on the platform scrambled for cover. As many as 30 shots were fired, but only one man was hit—and his injury was minor.


Later a stagecoach trip to Lawrence gave Arthur another lesson in the harshness of the new land. The solid-oak coach was braced with iron bands and suspended on heavy leather straps for shock absorption, but the driver couldn’t avoid all of the rocks or the ruts the heavier wagons of the settlers had cut into the tough prairie sod. The coach tipped over repeatedly, and when it did Arthur and Gardiner had to jump down and help pry the vehicle out of mudholes and sloughs with a fence rail the driver had brought along for that purpose. In some places the mud, greasy and thick as dough, was waist deep. For long stretches of the journey the young lawyers walked beside the coach to give the exhausted horses a rest.


When they finally arrived in Lawrence, Arthur and Gardiner sought out two prominent free-state leaders to brief them on the situation in the territory. James Henry Lane, 43, was a charismatic veteran of the Mexican-American War and a former lieutenant governor of Indiana who had voted for the Kansas-Nebraska Act as a member of Congress. Though not an abolitionist, the “Grim Chieftain” was a magnetic speaker widely known for his withering denunciations of the slave power. Samuel Walker, 34, was a cabinetmaker from Pennsylvania who was a founding member of the Bloomington Guards, an antislavery militia, and who had served in the free-state legislature. Arthur spoke to Lane and Walker several times over the next few days, and listened carefully to what they had to say.


One sunny morning a few days later, Arthur and Gardiner set out on horseback for Lecompton, the proslavery capital. As they traveled along the Kansas River, Lane and Walker rode up beside them. The two antislavery leaders were heading to Lecompton to attend to business in the territory’s land office, despite threats by residents of the town that they would hang Lane if they ever saw him there. Suddenly, several horsemen approached from the direction of Lecompton. When they spied Lane and Walker, they huddled for a moment, then put spurs to their horses and galloped back toward the capital. A few minutes before, Lane had told Arthur and Gardiner he didn’t believe he would be in danger in Lecompton; now he was nervous. He asked Arthur whether he was armed. When Arthur told him he was not, Lane handed him his extra revolver, which the New Yorker promptly stuck into his belt.


Lecompton consisted of a few scattered houses along a straggling street. The land office was at the end of it, and as Arthur and his companions made their way toward it, a large crowd of teenage boys ran behind them. “There goes Jim Lane! Let’s hang him!” they cried. Arthur shifted nervously in his saddle, suddenly conscious of the pistol rubbing against his leg. Several dozen men stood outside the land office, coldly eyeing the four visitors as they approached. Somebody had stabbed an antislavery man to death the night before; the suspect was still at large, and nobody knew whether the crime had been personal or political. The air crackled with menace, and Lane decided he’d better turn back. But the crowd allowed Arthur and the other two men to dismount and enter the land office without molesting them.


Shaken but no longer fearing for their safety, Arthur and Gardiner left the land office to visit Robert J. Walker, a former Mississippi senator and treasury secretary appointed territorial governor just a few months before. Walker supported slavery but opposed the constitution approved by the proslavery legislature—a tenuous political position. He lived and worked in a narrow house with two rooms on the ground floor and a tiny bedroom and anteroom on the upper half floor. The stairway was on the outside of the building. Upon entering Walker’s office, the New Yorkers noticed there was no carpet or furniture, save a round table covered with green baize and a plain wooden chair. An old saddle and a battered trunk were lying on the floor, and in one corner was a tottering pile of law books “thrown down in the promiscuous manner of corn sacks.” Walker, his shoulders slumped under the heavy mantle of his office, was buried deep in a pile of papers, but for more than an hour he described the political situation to his young visitors. The governor’s grim view was that the fate of the Union depended on whether Kansans would be allowed to vote on the slavery question in a free and fair election—a standard that would be hard to reach as the violence mounted. “If this principle should be defeated here, the slavery agitation must be renewed in all elections throughout the country, with increasing bitterness, until it shall eventually overthrow the government.”
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